Kyoto University Research Info	rmation Repository
Title	Schrödinger geometries arising from Yang-Baxter deformations
Author(s)	Matsumoto, Takuya; Yoshida, Kentaroh
Citation	Journal of High Energy Physics (2015), 2015
Issue Date	2015-05
URL	http://hdl.handle.net/2433/216033
Right	© 2015, The Author(s). JHEP is an open-access journal funded by SCOAP3 and licensed under CC BY 4.0
Туре	Journal Article
Textversion	publisher

Published for SISSA by 🖄 Springer

RECEIVED: February 13, 2015 ACCEPTED: April 13, 2015 PUBLISHED: April 30, 2015

Schrödinger geometries arising from Yang-Baxter deformations

Takuya Matsumoto^a and Kentaroh Yoshida^b

^bDepartment of Physics, Kyoto University, Kyoto 606-8502, Japan E-mail: takuya.matsumoto@math.nagoya-u.ac.jp, kyoshida@gauge.scphys.kyoto-u.ac.jp

ABSTRACT: We present further examples of the correspondence between deformed $AdS_5 \times S^5$ solutions of type IIB supergravity and classical *r*-matrices satisfying the classical Yang-Baxter equation (CYBE). In the previous works, classical *r*-matrices have been composed of generators of only one of either $\mathfrak{so}(2,4)$ or $\mathfrak{so}(6)$. In this paper, we consider some examples of *r*-matrices with both of them. The *r*-matrices of this kind contain (generalized) Schrödinger spacetimes and gravity duals of dipole theories. It is known that the generalized Schrödinger spacetimes can also be obtained via a certain class of TsT transformations called null Melvin twists. The metric and NS-NS two-form are reproduced by following the Yang-Baxter sigma-model description.

KEYWORDS: AdS-CFT Correspondence, Integrable Field Theories, Sigma Models

ARXIV EPRINT: 1502.00740



^aInstitute for Advanced Research and Department of Mathematics, Nagoya University, Nagoya 464-8602, Japan

Contents

1	1 Introduction	
2	Yang-Baxter deformations of $AdS_5 \times S^5$	3
3	Integrability of Schrödinger spacetimes	4
	3.1 Schrödinger geometries as Yang-Baxter deformations	4
	3.2 Three-parameter generalizations	6
	3.3 Other examples	7
4	Integrability of gravity duals for dipole theories	9
	4.1 A one-parameter case	9
	4.2 A three-parameter case	10
5	Conclusion and discussion	11
A	Notation and convention	12
В	The T-duality rules	14
\mathbf{C}	Derivation of dipole deformations of $\mathrm{AdS}_5 imes \mathrm{S}^5$	15
	C.1 One-parameter deformation	15
	C.2 Two-parameter deformation	16
	C.3 Three-parameter deformation	17

1 Introduction

The gauge/gravity correspondence provides a fascinating areaa for studying new aspects of string theory. A well-studied example is the duality between type IIB superstring theory on $AdS_5 \times S^5$ and the $\mathcal{N}=4$ super Yang-Mills (SYM) theory in four dimensions [1]. This duality enjoys a powerful property, integrability (For a big review, see [2]). It enables one to compute some physical quantities exactly even at finite coupling without supersymmetries. Thus the integrable structure behind the duality will be more and more important in the future study.

The integrable structure may provide another insight as well. It is integrable deformations of the AdS/CFT correspondence. It is well recognized that type IIB string theory on $AdS_5 \times S^5$ [3], which is often called the $AdS_5 \times S^5$ superstring, is classically integrable [4]. A systematic way to study the deformations is to employ the Yang-Baxter sigma-model formulation, which was originally proposed by Klimcik [5–7] for principal chiral models¹ and generalized by Delduc-Magro-Vicedo [13] to coset sigma models. In this formalism,

¹For the SU(2) case, a q-deformed algebra and its affine extension have been revealed in [8–12].

a deformed target space is determined by specifying the associated classical r-matrix satisfying the modified classical Yang-Baxter equation (mCYBE). This formalism has been extended to the case with the Wess-Zumino-Witten (WZW)-like term [14].² One may consider a generalization of it to the standard classical Yang-Baxter equation (CYBE) [18]. A three-dimensional Schrödinger spacetime is contained here as a simple case with the rank 1 and for this case the classical integrable structure has been recognized as Jordanian twists [19–22].³

The formalism of the Yang-Baxter deformations is applicable to the $AdS_5 \times S^5$ superstring [25, 26]. Then it has been generalized to the CYBE case [27]. In comparison to the mCYBE, there are two advantages. The first is that partial deformations of $AdS_5 \times S^5$ are possible. For example, one may consider a deformation of either AdS_5 or S^5 , while it seems likely, so far as we see the current achievement, that both of them are inevitably deformed in the case of mCYBE [25, 26]. The second is that there are a variety of solutions of the CYBE. In fact, we have already found various examples of classical *r*-matrices which correspond to solutions of type IIB supergravity. For example, the Lunin-Maldacena-Frolov background [28, 29] and the gravity duals of non-commutative gauge theories [30, 31] have been reproduced in [32] and [33], respectively, by following the Yang-Baxter sigma-model description. Thus, the correspondence of this kind may be called the gravity/CYBE correspondence [32] (For a short summary see, [34]).

A remarkable point of the gravity/CYBE correspondence is the connection to TsT transformations [35, 36]. That is, a certain class of classical *r*-matrices satisfying the CYBE is related to a solution generation techniques in type IIB supergravity. More strikingly, it is shown in [37] that this connection holds even for Yang-Baxter deformations of a non-integrable background, $AdS_5 \times T^{1,1}$ [38]. Motivated by these developments, our purpose here is to pursuit the relation to TsT transformations and discover further examples of the gravity/CYBE correspondence.

Indeed, we will present further examples of the gravity/CYBE correspondence. In the previous works, classical *r*-matrices have been composed of generators of only one of either $\mathfrak{so}(2,4)$ or $\mathfrak{so}(6)$. In the preset paper, we consider some examples of *r*-matrices with both of them, which are schematically of the form;

$$r = \sum_{i} (a_i \otimes b_i - b_i \otimes a_i) \quad \text{with} \quad a_i \in \mathfrak{so}(2,4), \quad b_i \in \mathfrak{so}(6).$$
(1.1)

The classical r-matrices of this kind contain (generalized) Schrödinger spacetimes and gravity duals of dipole theories. It is known that the generalized Schrödinger spacetimes can also be obtained via a certain class of TsT transformations called null Melvin twists as discussed in [39–41] and [42, 43]. The metric and NS-NS two-form are reproduced by following the Yang-Baxter sigma-model description. More concretely, we have found classical r-matrices corresponding to the following four classes of backgrounds:

1. Schrödinger spacetimes with one parameter [39–41],

²For the related progress on integrability with the WZW-term, see also [15-17].

³It may be significant to unveil the relation between the classical r-matrix and the general invariant twoform in the coset construction [23]. It is also interesting to figure out the relation to the construction [24].

- 2. Schrödinger spacetimes with three parameters [42],
- 3. supersymmetric Schrödinger spacetimes with three parameters [43], and
- 4. gravity duals for dipole theories [44–48].⁴

This paper is organized as follows. Section 2 gives a short review of Yang-Baxter deformations of the $AdS_5 \times S^5$ superstring based on the CYBE. section 3 presents classical *r*-matrices associated with (generalized) Schrödinger spacetimes. Section 4 considers dipole deformations of the $AdS_5 \times S^5$ background with the corresponding *r*-matrices. Section 5 is devoted to conclusion and discussion. In appendix A, we summarize our convention and notation of the $\mathfrak{so}(2,4)$ and $\mathfrak{so}(6)$ generators. In appendix B, the T-duality rules are listed. Appendix C gives a derivation of three-parameter dipole deformations of $AdS_5 \times S^5$.

2 Yang-Baxter deformations of $AdS_5 \times S^5$

Let us first recall the formulation of Yang-Baxter sigma models.

The Yang-Baxter sigma-model description was originally developed for purely bosonic non-linear sigma models [5–7, 13]. It is now generalized to supersymmetric cases, and integrable deformations of the $AdS_5 \times S^5$ superstring can be described based on the mCYBE [25, 26] and the CYBE [27].

Here we consider the latter case [27], where the deformed classical action is given by

$$S = -\frac{1}{4} (\gamma^{\alpha\beta} - \epsilon^{\alpha\beta}) \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} d\tau \int_{0}^{2\pi} d\sigma \operatorname{STr} \left(A_{\alpha} d \circ \frac{1}{1 - \eta R_g \circ d} A_{\beta} \right), \qquad (2.1)$$

where the left-invariant one-form is defined as

$$A_{\alpha} \equiv g^{-1} \partial_{\alpha} g \,, \qquad g \in \mathrm{SU}(2,2|4) \,. \tag{2.2}$$

When $\eta = 0$, the classical action (2.1) is reduced to the undeformed one [3]. Here the string world-sheet metric is taken to be flat i.e., $\gamma^{\alpha\beta} = \text{diag}(-1,1)$. The anti-symmetric tensor $\epsilon^{\alpha\beta}$ is normalized as $\epsilon^{\tau\sigma} = 1$.

The operator R_g is defined as

w

$$R_g(X) \equiv g^{-1} R(g X g^{-1}) g \,, \tag{2.3}$$

where a linear operator R is a solution of CYBE rather than mCYBE. The R-operator is related to a classical *r*-matrix in the tensorial notation through

$$R(X) = \operatorname{STr}_2[r(1 \otimes X)] = \sum_i \left(a_i \operatorname{STr}(b_i X) - b_i \operatorname{STr}(a_i X) \right)$$
(2.4)
ith $r = \sum_i a_i \wedge b_i \equiv \sum_i (a_i \otimes b_i - b_i \otimes a_i).$

The generators a_i, b_i are some elements of $\mathfrak{su}(2, 2|4)$. The supertrace STr of $(4|4) \times (4|4)$ supermatrix is defined as

$$\operatorname{STr}\left(\frac{A|B}{C|D}\right) = \operatorname{Tr}(A) - \operatorname{Tr}(D), \qquad (2.5)$$

 $^{^4\}mathrm{A}$ three-parameter generalization has been done in appendix C of this paper.

where each of the blocks A, B, C, D is a 4×4 matrix of complex numbers, which plays a crucial role in our argument.

Note that $\mathfrak{su}(2,2|4)$ enjoys the \mathbb{Z}_4 -grading property and one can introduce the projectors P_k (k = 0, 1, 2, 3) from $\mathfrak{su}(2, 2|4)$ to its \mathbb{Z}_4 -graded components $\mathfrak{su}(2, 2|4)^{(k)}$. In particular, $\mathfrak{su}(2, 2|4)^{(0)}$ is a gauge symmetry, $\mathfrak{so}(1, 4) \oplus \mathfrak{so}(5)$. Then the operator d is defined as a linear combination of P_k ,

$$d \equiv P_1 + 2P_2 - P_3 \,. \tag{2.6}$$

The numerical coefficients are fixed by requiring the kappa-symmetry [27].

To evaluate the action, it is convenient to rewrite the metric part and NS-NS two-form coupled part of the Lagrangian (2.1) into the following form,

$$L_G = \frac{1}{2} \operatorname{STr} \left[A_\tau P_2(J_\tau) - A_\sigma P_2(J_\sigma) \right] ,$$

$$L_B = \frac{1}{2} \operatorname{STr} \left[A_\tau P_2(J_\sigma) - A_\sigma P_2(J_\tau) \right] ,$$
(2.7)

where J_{α} is a projected current defined as

$$J_{\alpha} \equiv \frac{1}{1 - 2\eta R_g \circ P_2} A_{\alpha} \,. \tag{2.8}$$

One can read off the deformed metric and NS-NS two-form from L_G and L_B , respectively. It is quite messy but straightforward. It would be an easy exercise to derive the metric and NS-NS two-form by following the previous examples [32–36].

3 Integrability of Schrödinger spacetimes

In this section, we will deduce Shcrödinger spacetimes from classical *r*-matrices depending on both $\mathfrak{so}(2,4)$ and $\mathfrak{so}(6)$. Consequently, the classical integrability of the spacetimes automatically follows from the Yang-Baxter sigma model formulation. After presenting the well-known Shcrödinger spacetime in subsection 3.1, we consider three-parameter generalizations in subsection 3.2. More complicated examples are presented in subsection 3.3.

3.1 Schrödinger geometries as Yang-Baxter deformations

Inspired by the spirit of the gravity/CYBE correspondence, we have found that the following classical r-matrix

$$r = -\frac{i\beta}{4\eta} p_{-} \wedge (h_4 + h_5 + h_6) \tag{3.1}$$

corresponds to the Schrödinger background. Here p_{-} is the light-cone generator in $\mathfrak{so}(2,4)$ and h_4, h_5 and h_6 are the Cartan generators in $\mathfrak{so}(6)$. Hence the *r*-matrix in (3.1) is indeed of the form (1.1). The parameter β measures the deformation.⁵ For the details of our convention and notation of the generators, see appendix A.

⁵The parameter η is not an essential deformation parameter because it is canceled in (2.8).

To find the metric and NS-NS two-form from (2.7), we need to evaluate the projected deformed current $P_2(J_{\alpha})$. By solving the equation

$$(1 - 2\eta P_2 \circ R_g) P_2(J_\alpha) = P_2(A_\alpha), \qquad (3.2)$$

which is obtained from the definition (2.8), the deformed current is evaluated as

$$P_2(J_\alpha) = c^1 \gamma_1^a + c^2 \gamma_2^a + c^3 \gamma_3^a + c^0 \gamma_0^a + c^5 \gamma_5^a + d^1 \gamma_1^s + d^2 \gamma_2^s + d^3 \gamma_3^s + d^4 \gamma_4^s + d^5 \gamma_5^s, \qquad (3.3)$$

with the coefficients

$$c^{1} = \frac{\partial_{\alpha} x^{1}}{2z}, \qquad c^{2} = \frac{\partial_{\alpha} x^{2}}{2z}, \qquad c^{5} = \frac{\partial_{\alpha} z}{2z},$$

$$c^{3} = -\frac{\beta^{2} \partial_{\alpha} x^{+}}{2\sqrt{2}z^{3}} + \frac{1}{2\sqrt{2}z} \left(\partial_{\alpha} x^{+} - \partial_{\alpha} x^{-} + \beta \left(\partial_{\alpha} \chi + \frac{1}{2} \sin^{2} \mu (\partial_{\alpha} \psi + \cos \theta \partial_{\alpha} \phi) \right) \right),$$

$$c^{0} = +\frac{\beta^{2} \partial_{\alpha} x^{+}}{2\sqrt{2}z^{3}} + \frac{1}{2\sqrt{2}z} \left(\partial_{\alpha} x^{+} + \partial_{\alpha} x^{-} - \beta \left(\partial_{\alpha} \chi + \frac{1}{2} \sin^{2} \mu (\partial_{\alpha} \psi + \cos \theta \partial_{\alpha} \phi) \right) \right),$$

$$d^{1} = -\frac{i}{2} \partial_{\alpha} \mu, \qquad d^{3} = -\frac{i}{4} \sin \mu \partial_{\alpha} \theta, \qquad d^{5} = \frac{i}{2z^{2}} \cos \mu (z^{2} \partial_{\alpha} \chi - \beta \partial_{\alpha} x^{+}),$$

$$d^{2} = \frac{i}{4z^{2}} \cos \frac{\theta}{2} \sin \mu (2\beta \partial_{\alpha} x^{+} - z^{2} (\partial_{\alpha} \phi + 2\partial_{\alpha} \chi + \partial_{\alpha} \psi)),$$

$$d^{4} = \frac{i}{4z^{2}} \sin \frac{\theta}{2} \sin \mu (2\beta \partial_{\alpha} x^{+} + z^{2} (\partial_{\alpha} \phi - 2\partial_{\alpha} \chi - \partial_{\alpha} \psi)). \qquad (3.4)$$

Here we have used a parametrization of group element g introduced in (A.10)–(A.13). The convention of gamma matrices is given in appendix (A.1)–(A.3).

Plugging the above expression of $P_2(J_\alpha)$ with (2.7), the resulting metric and NS-NS two-form turn out to be

$$ds^{2} = \frac{-2dx^{+}dx^{-} + (dx^{1})^{2} + (dx^{2})^{2} + dz^{2}}{z^{2}} - \beta^{2}\frac{(dx^{+})^{2}}{z^{4}} + ds^{2}_{S^{5}},$$

$$B_{2} = \frac{\beta}{z^{2}}dx^{+} \wedge (d\chi + \omega).$$
(3.5)

Here the line element $ds_{S^5}^2$ is measured by the metric of S^5 with the coordinates $(\chi, \mu, \psi, \theta, \phi)$,

$$ds_{S^5}^2 = (d\chi + \omega)^2 + ds_{\mathbb{CP}^2}^2,$$

$$ds_{\mathbb{CP}^2}^2 = d\mu^2 + \sin^2\mu \left(\Sigma_1^2 + \Sigma_2^2 + \cos^2\mu\Sigma_3^2\right).$$
(3.6)

Namely, the round S⁵ is expressed as an S¹-fibration over \mathbb{CP}^2 , where χ is the fiber coordinate and ω is a one-form potential of the Kähler form on \mathbb{CP}^2 . The symbols Σ_i (i = 1, 2, 3) and ω are defined as

$$\Sigma_{1} = \frac{1}{2} (\cos \psi \, d\theta + \sin \psi \sin \theta \, d\phi) ,$$

$$\Sigma_{2} = \frac{1}{2} (\sin \psi \, d\theta - \cos \psi \sin \theta \, d\phi) ,$$

$$\Sigma_{3} = \frac{1}{2} (d\psi + \cos \theta \, d\phi) , \qquad \omega = \sin^{2} \mu \Sigma_{3} .$$
(3.7)

The metric of the deformed AdS_5 part is nothing but the metric that was originally proposed in [49, 50]. This metric preserves a non-relativistic conformal symmetry called the Schrödinger symmetry [51–53]. This metric can be reproduced via a coset construction [23].

As a result, we have proven the classical integrability of the string sigma model whose target space is given by the Schrödinger background (3.5) in the sense that the Lax pair has been constructed.⁶

3.2 Three-parameter generalizations

In the previous subsection, we have considered a one-parameter deformation. Then, one may consider multi-parameter deformations. An example of three-parameter deformation is described by the following classical *r*-matrix,

$$r(\vec{\beta}) = -\frac{i}{4\eta} p_{-} \wedge (\beta_1 h_4 + \beta_2 h_5 + \beta_3 h_6), \qquad (3.8)$$

where $\vec{\beta} \equiv (\beta_1, \beta_2, \beta_3)$ are the real deformation parameters.

Since the calculations to find the metric and NS-NS two-form are completely parallel to the previous section, we do not repeat them here. With the S^5 metric (A.21), the final expressions are written as

$$ds^{2} = \frac{-2dx^{+}dx^{-} + (dx^{1})^{2} + (dx^{2})^{2} + dz^{2}}{z^{2}} - \frac{f(\vec{\beta})(dx^{+})^{2}}{4z^{4}} + ds^{2}_{S^{5}},$$

$$B_{2} = \frac{1}{4z^{2}}dx^{+} \wedge K(\vec{\beta}),$$
(3.9)

where $f(\vec{\beta})$ and $K(\vec{\beta})$ are a scalar function and a one-form on S^5 , respectively, depending on $\vec{\beta}$. They are explicitly defined as

$$\begin{aligned} f(\vec{\beta}) &= \beta_1^2 + \beta_2^2 + 2\beta_3^2 + 2(\beta_1^2 - \beta_2^2)\cos\theta\sin^2\mu - (\beta_1^2 + \beta_2^2 - 2\beta_3^2)\cos2\mu, \\ K(\vec{\beta}) &= \left(2(\beta_1 - \beta_2)\cos\theta\sin^2\mu - (\beta_1 + \beta_2 - 2\beta_3)\cos2\mu + \beta_1 + \beta_2 + 2\beta_3\right)d\chi \\ &+ (\beta_1 + \beta_2 + (\beta_1 - \beta_2)\cos\theta)\sin^2\mu d\psi \\ &+ (\beta_1 - \beta_2 + (\beta_1 + \beta_2)\cos\theta)\sin^2\mu d\phi. \end{aligned}$$
(3.10)

The above expressions are quite messy and it is convenient to rewrite them in terms of another coordinate system of S^5 . In fact, by following the argument in appendix A, one can rewrite them into the following simpler form:

$$ds^{2} = \frac{-2dx^{+}dx^{-} + (dx^{1})^{2} + (dx^{2})^{2} + dz^{2}}{z^{2}} - \left(\sum_{i=1}^{3} \beta_{i}^{2} \mu_{i}^{2}\right) \frac{(dx^{+})^{2}}{z^{4}} + ds_{S^{5}}^{2},$$

$$B_{2} = \frac{1}{z^{2}} dx^{+} \wedge \left(\sum_{i=1}^{3} \beta_{i} \mu_{i}^{2} d\psi_{i}\right), \qquad \mu_{1}^{2} + \mu_{2}^{2} + \mu_{3}^{2} = 1.$$
 (3.11)

⁶Note here that non-integrability of various non-relativistic backgrounds was argued in [54], but the Schrödinger spactime with the dynamical critical exponent z = 2 has not been covered. Hence, our result is not in contradiction with [54].

Here μ_1 , μ_2 and μ_3 are the S⁵ coordinates defined as

$$\mu_1 = \cos\zeta \sin r, \qquad \mu_2 = \sin\zeta \sin r, \qquad \mu_3 = \cos r.$$
 (3.12)

This background (3.11) nicely agrees with the one obtained by Bobev and Kundu [42] via null Melvin twists of $AdS_5 \times S^5$. As a result, this background (3.11) also gives rise to an integrable background of type IIB string theory. A remarkable point is that the deformation term of the AdS_5 part depends on the S^5 coordinates. This dependence does not break the Schrödinger symmetry. It is possible to consider the background preserving the Schrödinger symmetry beyond the TsT transformations. Such a geometry has been studied, for example, in [55]. It would be interesting to study whether the classical integrability is preserved for the deformation argued in [55]. A Schrödinger background with a *B*-field found in [55] may exhibit an instability concerned with the signature flipping of G_{++} . The stability of the solution might be related to the classification of possible classical *r*-matrices.

Note that when the deformation parameters take the special values,

$$\beta_1 = \beta_2 = \beta_3 = \beta \,, \tag{3.13}$$

the background (3.11) reduces to the Schrödinger geometry (3.5) by taking account of the relation,

$$d\chi + \omega = \mu_1^2 d\psi_1 + \mu_2^2 d\psi_2 + \mu_3^2 d\psi_3.$$
(3.14)

Finally it is worth noting that the Schrödinger spacetimes discussed so far are nonsupersymmetric for generic values. This is basically because T-dualities are taken for Rsymmetry directions and then all of the supersymmetries are broken. For supersymmetric Schrödinger backgrounds, see the following subsection.

3.3 Other examples

It would be worth giving more examples. We will give five examples of classical *r*-matrices satisfying the CYBE. The *r*-matrices always contain p_{-} from $\mathfrak{so}(2,4)$, and the other generators are picked up from $\mathfrak{so}(6)$, which are not the Cartan generators.

To present the examples, the following polar coordinates of S^5 are more convenient:

$$n_{1} = \mu_{1} \cos \psi_{1}, \qquad n_{2} = \mu_{1} \sin \psi_{1},$$

$$n_{3} = \mu_{2} \cos \psi_{2}, \qquad n_{4} = \mu_{2} \sin \psi_{2},$$

$$n_{5} = \mu_{3} \cos \psi_{3}, \qquad n_{6} = \mu_{3} \sin \psi_{3},$$

$$m_{1} = \cos \zeta \sin r, \qquad \mu_{2} = \sin \zeta \sin r, \qquad \mu_{3} = \cos r.$$
(3.15)

The above coordinates satisfy the following condition:

$$(n_1^2 + n_2^2) + (n_3^2 + n_4^2) + (n_5^2 + n_6^2) = \mu_1^2 + \mu_2^2 + \mu_3^2 = 1.$$
(3.16)

1) classical *r*-matrix with γ_1^s . The first examples is a classical *r*-matrix composed of p_- and γ_1^s like

$$r = -\frac{i}{4} p_- \wedge \gamma_1^s. \tag{3.17}$$

This *r*-matrix gives rise to the following metric and NS-NS two-form:

$$ds^{2} = ds^{2}_{AdS_{5}} + ds^{2}_{S^{5}} + \eta^{2}(\mu^{2}_{1}\cos^{2}\psi_{1} + \mu^{2}_{3}\cos^{2}\psi_{3})\frac{(dx^{+})^{2}}{z^{4}}$$

$$= ds^{2}_{AdS_{5}} + ds^{2}_{S^{5}} + \eta^{2}(n^{2}_{1} + n^{2}_{5})\frac{(dx^{+})^{2}}{z^{4}},$$

$$B_{2} = \frac{\eta}{z^{2}}dx^{+} \wedge \left((\mu_{1}\cos\psi_{1})d(\mu_{3}\cos\psi_{3}) - (\mu_{3}\cos\psi_{3})d(\mu_{1}\cos\psi_{1})\right).$$

$$= \frac{\eta}{z^{2}}dx^{+} \wedge (n_{1}dn_{5} - n_{5}dn_{1}).$$
(3.18)

2) classical r-matrix with n_{13} . The second example is a classical r-matrix,

$$r = \frac{1}{2} p_{-} \wedge n_{13} \,. \tag{3.19}$$

The resulting metric and NS-NS two-form are given by

$$ds^{2} = ds^{2}_{AdS_{5}} + ds^{2}_{S^{5}} - \eta^{2} (\mu^{2}_{1} \cos^{2} \psi_{1} + \mu^{2}_{2} \cos^{2} \psi_{2}) \frac{(dx^{+})^{2}}{z^{4}}$$

$$= ds^{2}_{AdS_{5}} + ds^{2}_{S^{5}} - \eta^{2} (n^{2}_{1} + n^{2}_{3}) \frac{(dx^{+})^{2}}{z^{4}},$$

$$B_{2} = \frac{\eta}{z^{2}} dx^{+} \wedge ((\mu_{1} \cos \psi_{1}) d(\mu_{2} \cos \psi_{2}) - (\mu_{2} \cos \psi_{2}) d(\mu_{1} \cos \psi_{1})))$$

$$= \frac{\eta}{z^{2}} dx^{+} \wedge (n_{1} dn_{3} - n_{3} dn_{1}).$$
(3.20)

3) classical *r*-matrix with n_{15} . The third example is a classical *r*-matrix,

$$r = -\frac{1}{2} p_{-} \wedge n_{15} \,. \tag{3.21}$$

The resulting metric and NS-NS two-form are given by

$$ds^{2} = ds^{2}_{AdS_{5}} + ds^{2}_{S^{5}} - \eta^{2} (\mu^{2}_{1} \cos^{2} \psi_{1} + \mu^{2}_{3} \sin^{2} \psi_{3}) \frac{(dx^{+})^{2}}{z^{4}}$$

$$= ds^{2}_{AdS_{5}} + ds^{2}_{S^{5}} - \eta^{2} (n^{2}_{1} + n^{2}_{6}) \frac{(dx^{+})^{2}}{z^{4}},$$

$$B_{2} = \frac{\eta}{z^{2}} dx^{+} \wedge ((\mu_{1} \cos \psi_{1}) d(\mu_{3} \sin \psi_{3}) - (\mu_{3} \sin \psi_{3}) d(\mu_{1} \cos \psi_{1}))$$

$$= \frac{\eta}{z^{2}} dx^{+} \wedge (n_{1} dn_{6} - n_{6} dn_{1}).$$
(3.22)

4) classical *r*-matrix with n_{12} , n_{23} and n_{34} . The fourth example is a classical *r*-matrix,

$$r = \frac{1}{4} p_{-} \wedge \left(\alpha_1 n_{12} + \alpha_2 n_{23} + \alpha_3 n_{34}\right).$$
(3.23)

The resulting metric and NS-NS two-form are given by

$$ds^{2} = ds^{2}_{AdS_{5}} + ds^{2}_{S^{5}} - \eta^{2} \left(\alpha^{2}_{1}(n_{1}^{2} + n_{2}^{2}) + \alpha^{2}_{2}(n_{2}^{2} + n_{3}^{2}) + \alpha^{2}_{3}(n_{3}^{2} + n_{4}^{2}) - 2\alpha_{2}(\alpha_{1}n_{1}n_{3} + \alpha_{3}n_{2}n_{4}) \right) \frac{(dx^{+})^{2}}{z^{4}}, B_{2} = \frac{\eta}{z^{2}} dx^{+} \wedge \left(\alpha_{1}(n_{1}dn_{2} - n_{2}dn_{1}) + \alpha_{2}(n_{2}dn_{3} - n_{3}dn_{2}) + \alpha_{3}(n_{3}dn_{4} - n_{4}dn_{3}) \right).$$
(3.24)

5) classical *r*-matrix with n_{12} , n_{34} and h_6 . The fifth example is a classical *r*-matrix,

$$r = \frac{1}{4} p_{-} \wedge \left(\alpha_1 n_{12} + \alpha_2 n_{34} - \frac{i\alpha_3}{2} h_6 \right).$$
(3.25)

Here it is noted that three $\mathfrak{so}(6)$ generators n_{12}, n_{34} and h_6 commute each other. The resulting metric and NS-NS two-form are given by

$$ds^{2} = ds^{2}_{AdS_{5}} + ds^{2}_{S^{5}} - \eta^{2} \left(\alpha^{2}_{1} (n^{2}_{1} + n^{2}_{2}) + \alpha^{2}_{2} (n^{2}_{3} + n^{2}_{4}) + \alpha^{2}_{3} (n^{2}_{5} + n^{2}_{6}) \right) \frac{(dx^{+})^{2}}{z^{4}},$$

$$B_{2} = \frac{\eta}{z^{2}} dx^{+} \wedge \left(\alpha_{1} (n_{1} dn_{2} - n_{2} dn_{1}) + \alpha_{2} (n_{3} dn_{4} - n_{4} dn_{3}) + \alpha_{3} (n_{5} dn_{6} - n_{6} dn_{5}) \right).$$
(3.26)

It should be remarked that the background with (3.26) agrees with the one found in [43]. Thus the existence of the associated classical *r*-matrix (3.25) indicates that the string theory defined on the background [43] is classically integrable in the sense that the Lax pair is constructed.

According to the Killing spinor analysis in [43], for values satisfying the condition

$$\alpha_1 \pm \alpha_2 \pm \alpha_3 = 0, \qquad (3.27)$$

two real supersymmetries are preserved. When, in addition to the condition (3.27), at least one of the α_i (i = 1, 2, 3) vanishes, four real supersymmetries are preserved. Thus, depending on classical *r*-matrices, the remaining supersymmetries should be different. Hence it would be interesting to study the relation between classical *r*-matrices and the classification of super Schrödinger algebras [56–58]. It would also be nice to study the relation to warped AdS₃ geometries, for example, along the line of [59].

4 Integrability of gravity duals for dipole theories

In this section, we shall derive gravity duals of dipole theories [44-47] from the viewpoint of the Yang-Baxter deformations. We find out classical *r*-matrices associated with the dipole backgrounds and derive the deformed metric and NS-NS two-form both for a one-parameter case and a three-parameter case, in subsection 4.1 and 4.2, respectively.

4.1 A one-parameter case

Let us first consider a one-parameter dipole background. It can be obtained by a TsTtransformation $(x^3, \psi_1)_{\alpha_1}$, where α_1 is a shift parameter α_1 [48]. From this information on the TsT-transformation, one can easily guess the corresponding classical r-matrix based on the knowledge obtained [35].

A natural candidate of the associated r-matrix is given by

$$r = \frac{i\alpha_1}{4\eta} \, p_3 \wedge h_4 \,, \tag{4.1}$$

where p_3 is a Poincaré generator in $\mathfrak{so}(2,4)$ and h_4 is a Cartan generator in $\mathfrak{so}(6)$. In fact, the classical *r*-matrix leads to the deformed metric and NS-NS two form given by, respectively,

$$ds^{2} = \frac{-(dx^{0})^{2} + (dx^{1})^{2} + (dx^{2})^{2} + G_{1}^{-1}(dx^{3})^{2} + dz^{2}}{z^{2}} + d\mu_{1}^{2} + G_{1}^{-1}\mu_{1}^{2}d\psi_{1}^{2} + \sum_{i=2,3}^{2}(d\mu_{i}^{2} + \mu_{i}^{2}d\psi_{i}^{2}),$$
$$B_{2} = \alpha_{1}G_{1}^{-1}z^{-2}\mu_{1}^{2}dx^{3} \wedge d\psi_{1}.$$
(4.2)

Here the scalar function G_1 is defined as

$$G_1 \equiv 1 + \alpha_1^2 \,\mu_1^2 \, z^{-2} \,. \tag{4.3}$$

We have also used the coordinates of S^5 given in (3.12). Indeed, the background with (4.2) perfectly agrees with (6.30) in [48]. Thus it has been shown that the classical *r*-matrix (4.1) corresponds to this TsT transformation. This result gives a further support for the gravity/CYBE correspondence.

4.2 A three-parameter case

The next is to consider a three-parameter generation of the classical r-matrix (4.2).

Since $\mathfrak{so}(6)$ has the three Cartan generators h_4, h_5 and h_6 , one may consider the following three-parameter generalization;

$$r = \frac{i}{4\eta} p_3 \wedge (\alpha_1 h_4 + \alpha_2 h_5 + \alpha_3 h_6), \qquad (4.4)$$

with three real constants α_1, α_2 and α_3 . Note that, when $\alpha_2 = \alpha_3 = 0$, it reduces to the one-parameter case (4.2). After some computations, the resulting metric and NS-NS two-form are given by

$$ds^{2} = \frac{-(dx^{0})^{2} + (dx^{1})^{2} + (dx^{2})^{2} + G_{3}^{-1}(dx^{3})^{2} + dz^{2}}{z^{2}} + \sum_{i=1}^{3} (d\mu_{i}^{2} + \mu_{i}^{2} d\psi_{i}^{2}) - G_{3}^{-1} z^{-2} \left(\sum_{i=1}^{3} \alpha_{i} \, \mu_{i}^{2} \, d\psi_{i}\right)^{2},$$
$$B_{2} = z^{-2} G_{3}^{-1} \, dx^{3} \wedge \left(\sum_{i=1}^{3} \alpha_{i} \, \mu_{i}^{2} \, d\psi_{i}\right).$$
(4.5)

Here the scalar function G_3 is defined as

$$G_3 \equiv 1 + z^{-2} (\alpha_1^2 \mu_1^2 + \alpha_2^2 \mu_2^2 + \alpha_3^2 \mu_3^2).$$
(4.6)

When $\alpha_1 = \alpha_2 = \alpha_3 = 0$, G_3 becomes 1 and B_2 vanishes.

The deformed background with (4.5) can also be obtained by a sequence of three TsT-transformations: 1) $(x^3, \psi_1)_{\alpha_1}$, 2) $(x^3, \psi_2)_{\alpha_2}$ and 3) $(x^3, \psi_3)_{\alpha_3}$. The derivation is straightforward but the result has not been listed in [48]. Hence we have derived the explicit expressions in appendix C. The resulting metric and NS-NS two-form completely agree with the expressions in (4.5).

5 Conclusion and discussion

We have presented further examples of the gravity/CYBE correspondence. In the previous works, classical *r*-matrices have been composed of generators of only one of either $\mathfrak{so}(2, 4)$ or $\mathfrak{so}(6)$. In this paper, we consider some examples of *r*-matrices with both of them. The *r*-matrices of this kind contain (generalized) Schrödinger spacetimes and gravity duals of dipole field theories. It is known that the generalized Schrödinger spacetimes can also be obtained via a certain class of TsT transformations called null Melvin twists. The metric and NS-NS two-form are reproduced by following the Yang-Baxter sigma-model description. Thus, this agreement shows that these backgrounds are classically integrable at the bosonic sigma-model level in the sense that the Lax pairs exist. We have to make efforts to prove this statement including the fermionic sector.

So far, the gravity/CYBE correspondence has been confirmed only for the metric (in the string frame) and NS-NS two-from. Hence the remaining task is to check the dilaton and R-R sector. In general, the dilaton is not constant and the R-R sector is also very complicated. Thus it does not seem so easy to check the remaining sector by explicitly evaluating the operator insertion into the classical action. However, the Schrödinger spacetime with a one-parameter is a bit special. Although the metric is deformed and the NS-NS two-form is newly turned on, the dilaton is still constant and the R-R sector is not modified. This result indicates that the Schrödinger spacetime would be a nice laboratory to check the gravity/CYBE correspondence at the full-sector level. We hope that we could report the result in the near future [60].

There are various applications of the results presented here. An exciting issue is to consider applications to integrable deformations of type IIA string theory on $AdS_4 \times \mathbb{CP}^3$ [61, 62]. This system is dual to the $\mathcal{N}=6$ SU(N) × SU(N) Chern-Simons matter system in three dimensions [63]. This system was proposed by Aharony-Bergman-Jafferis-Maldacena (ABJM) [63] and it is often called the ABJM model. Hence the deformations of the string-theory side should correspond to deformations of the ABJM model, and there should be the associated classical r-matrices in the spirit of the gravity/CYBE correspondence.

In particular, the most significant one is a non-relativistic limit of the ABJM model [64, 65]. This system preserves a super Schrödinger symmetry and the internal symmetry is also revealed. However, the gravity dual for this non-relativistic ABJM model has not been constructed yet.⁷ Thus, it may be interesting to try to find out the gravity dual by

⁷Early trials to look for the gravity dual [66, 67] have supposed the five-dimensional Schrödinger geometries. This is a possible line of approach, but as another possibility one of the internal directions may be external by acting a classical r-matrix. This is what we have in mind.

employing the Yang-Baxter deformations of type IIA string theory. The information on the isometry obtained in [64, 65] would be a key ingredient to find out the corresponding classical r-matrix. We hope that our results shed light on the gravity dual for the non-relativistic ABJM model.

Acknowledgments

We are very grateful to Io Kawaguchi for collaboration at the early stage of this work. This work is supported in part by the JSPS Japan-Hungary Research Cooperative Program.

A Notation and convention

We summarize here the notation and convention of the $\mathfrak{so}(2,4)$ and $\mathfrak{so}(6)$ generators, and a coset representation of $\mathrm{AdS}_5 \times \mathrm{S}^5$.

The gamma matrices. In the following, we use the gamma-matrices represented by

$$\gamma_{1} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & -1 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 & 0 & 0 \\ -1 & 0 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \qquad \gamma_{2} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & 0 & i & i \\ 0 & i & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & -i & 0 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \qquad \gamma_{3} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 \\ 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \qquad \gamma_{3} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 \\ 0 & 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \qquad \gamma_{3} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & 1 & 0 \\ 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & -1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & -1 \end{pmatrix}.$$
(A.1)

To describe the $\mathfrak{so}(2,4)$ and $\mathfrak{so}(6)$ subalgebras of the $\mathfrak{psu}(2,2|4)$ superalgebra, it is necessary to introduce the following 8×8 gamma matrices:

$$\gamma_{\mu}^{a} = \begin{pmatrix} \gamma_{\mu} & 0\\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \quad \gamma_{5}^{a} = \begin{pmatrix} \gamma_{5} & 0\\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} \quad \text{with} \qquad \mu = 1, 2, 3, 0, \qquad (A.2)$$

$$\gamma_i^s = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ 0 & \gamma_i \end{pmatrix}, \quad \gamma_5^s = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ 0 & \gamma_5 \end{pmatrix} \quad \text{with} \qquad i = 1, 2, 3, 4.$$
 (A.3)

Here each block of the matrices is a 4×4 matrix.

The bosonic generators. Then, the Lie algebras $\mathfrak{so}(2,4)$ and $\mathfrak{so}(6)$ are spanned by the bases:

$$\mathfrak{so}(2,4) = \operatorname{span}_{\mathbb{R}} \{ \gamma_{\mu}^{a}, \gamma_{5}^{a}, m_{\mu\nu} = \frac{1}{4} [\gamma_{\mu}^{a}, \gamma_{\nu}^{a}], m_{\mu5} = \frac{1}{4} [\gamma_{\mu}^{a}, \gamma_{5}^{a}] \mid \mu, \nu = 1, 2, 3, 0 \},$$

$$\mathfrak{so}(6) = \operatorname{span}_{\mathbb{R}} \{ \gamma_{i}^{s}, \gamma_{5}^{s}, n_{ij} = \frac{1}{4} [\gamma_{i}^{s}, \gamma_{j}^{s}], n_{i5} = \frac{1}{4} [\gamma_{i}^{s}, \gamma_{5}^{s}] \mid i, j = 1, 2, 3, 4 \}.$$
(A.4)

Note that the subalgebras $\mathfrak{so}(1,4)$ and $\mathfrak{so}(5)$ are generated by

$$\mathfrak{so}(1,4) = \operatorname{span}_{\mathbb{R}} \{ m_{\mu\nu}, m_{\mu5} \mid \mu, \nu = 1, 2, 3, 0 \}, \\ \mathfrak{so}(5) = \operatorname{span}_{\mathbb{R}} \{ n_{ij}, n_{i5} \mid i, j = 1, 2, 3, 4 \}.$$
(A.5)

For the coset construction of AdS_5 with the Poincaré coordinates, the following basis of $\mathfrak{so}(2,4)$ is convenient;

$$\mathfrak{so}(2,4) = \operatorname{span}_{\mathbb{R}} \{ p_{\mu}, k_{\mu}, h_1, h_2, h_3, m_{13}, m_{10}, m_{23}, m_{20} \mid \mu = 0, 1, 2, 3 \},$$
(A.6)

where the Cartan generators h_1, h_2, h_3 and p_{μ}, k_{μ} are given by

$$h_{1} = 2im_{12} = \operatorname{diag}(-1, 1, -1, 1, 0, 0, 0, 0), \qquad p_{\mu} = \frac{1}{2}\gamma_{\mu}^{a} - m_{\mu5},$$

$$h_{2} = 2m_{30} = \operatorname{diag}(-1, 1, 1, -1, 0, 0, 0, 0), \qquad k_{\mu} = \frac{1}{2}\gamma_{\mu}^{a} + m_{\mu5},$$

$$h_{3} = \gamma_{5}^{a} = \operatorname{diag}(1, 1, -1, -1, 0, 0, 0, 0). \qquad (A.7)$$

Note that the generators p_{μ} and k_{μ} commute each other,

$$[p_{\mu}, p_{\nu}] = [k_{\mu}, k_{\nu}] = [p_{\mu}, k_{\nu}] = 0 \quad \text{for} \quad \mu, \nu = 0, 1, 2, 3.$$
 (A.8)

On the other hand, the Cartan generators of $\mathfrak{so}(6)$ read

$$h_4 = 2in_{12} = \text{diag}(0, 0, 0, 0, -1, 1, -1, 1),$$

$$h_5 = 2in_{34} = \text{diag}(0, 0, 0, 0, -1, 1, 1, -1),$$

$$h_6 = \gamma_5^s = \text{diag}(0, 0, 0, 0, 1, 1, -1, -1).$$
(A.9)

A parameterization of the bosonic group elements. We are now ready to parametrize bosonic group elements of PSU(2, 2|4). The group elements of SO(2, 4) and SO(6) are parametrized as

$$g_a = \exp\left(x^1 p_1 + x^2 p_2 + x^3 p_3 + x^0 p_0\right) \exp\left(\frac{1}{2}\log z\gamma_5^a\right)$$

= $\exp\left(x^1 p_1 + x^2 p_2 + x^+ p_+ + x^- p_-\right) \exp\left(\frac{1}{2}\log z\gamma_5^a\right) \in \mathrm{SO}(2,4), \quad (A.10)$

$$g_s = \exp(\psi^1 h_4 + \psi^2 h_5 + \psi^3 h_6) \exp(-\zeta n_{13}) \exp\left(-\frac{i}{2}r\gamma_1^s\right) \in \mathrm{SO}(6).$$
(A.11)

Here the light-cone coordinates and the associated generators are given by

$$x^{\pm} = \frac{x^0 \pm x^3}{\sqrt{2}}, \qquad p_{\pm} = \frac{p_0 \pm p_3}{\sqrt{2}}.$$
 (A.12)

Thus, a bosonic element g of PSU(2, 2|4) is represented by

$$g = g_a g_s \quad \in \operatorname{SO}(2,4) \times \operatorname{SO}(6) \subset P\operatorname{SU}(2,2|4).$$
(A.13)

Coset projector. To derive the metric of $AdS_5 \times S^5$ from the left-invariant one-form,

$$A = g^{-1}dg \quad \in \mathfrak{so}(2,4) \oplus \mathfrak{so}(6), \qquad (A.14)$$

it is necessary to introduce the coset projector;

$$P_2: \quad \mathfrak{so}(2,4) \oplus \mathfrak{so}(6) \quad \longrightarrow \quad \frac{\mathfrak{so}(2,4)}{\mathfrak{so}(1,4)} \oplus \frac{\mathfrak{so}(6)}{\mathfrak{so}(5)}. \tag{A.15}$$

For any $x \in \mathfrak{so}(2,4) \oplus \mathfrak{so}(6)$, it is explicitly defined as

$$P_2(x) = \frac{1}{4} \left(\eta^{\mu\nu} \gamma^a_\mu \operatorname{Tr}[\gamma^a_\nu x] + \gamma^a_5 \operatorname{Tr}[\gamma^a_5 x] + \delta^{ij} \gamma^s_i \operatorname{Tr}[\gamma^s_j x] \right),$$
(A.16)

where the range of the indices are $\mu, \nu = 0, 1, 2, 3$ and i, j = 1, 2, 3, 4, 5. Then the fourdimensional Minkowski metric is given by

$$\eta^{\mu\nu} = \text{diag}(-1, 1, 1, 1) \,. \tag{A.17}$$

The $AdS_5 \times S^5$ metric. With the left-invariant one-form (A.14) and the coset projector (A.16), the $AdS_5 \times S^5$ metric can be reproduced as

$$\operatorname{STr}[AP_2(A)] = ds_{\operatorname{AdS}_5}^2 + ds_{\operatorname{S}^5}^2,$$
 (A.18)

where $ds^2_{AdS_5}$ and $ds^2_{S^5}$ are the metrics of AdS₅ and S⁵ respectively,

$$ds_{\text{AdS}_5}^2 = \frac{1}{z^2} \left(-2dx^+ dx^- + (dx^1)^2 + (dx^2)^2 + dz^2 \right),$$

$$ds_{\text{S}^5}^2 = dr^2 + \sin^2 r \left(d\zeta^2 + \cos^2 \zeta (d\psi_1)^2 + \sin^2 \zeta (d\psi_2)^2 \right) + \cos^2 r (d\psi_3)^2.$$
(A.19)

This is the standard representation of the $AdS_5 \times S^5$ metric. It is noted that the ranges of S^5 coordinates are restricted as follows:

$$0 \le r \le \frac{\pi}{2}, \qquad 0 \le \zeta \le \frac{\pi}{2}, \qquad 0 \le \psi_i \le 2\pi \quad (i = 1, 2, 3).$$
 (A.20)

The coordinate systems of S^5 . When we argue the Schrödinger geometry, it is more convenient to rewrite the S^5 metric (A.19) as an S¹-fibration over \mathbb{CP}^2 :

$$ds_{S^5}^2 = (d\chi + \omega)^2 + ds_{\mathbb{C}P^2}^2,$$

$$ds_{\mathbb{C}P^2}^2 = d\mu^2 + \sin^2 \mu \left(\Sigma_1^2 + \Sigma_2^2 + \cos^2 \mu \Sigma_3^2 \right),$$
(A.21)

where χ is the S¹-fiber coordinate and ω is the one-form potential of the Kähler form on \mathbb{CP}^2 . The symbols Σ_i (i = 1, 2, 3) and ω are defined by

$$\Sigma_{1} = \frac{1}{2} (\cos \psi d\theta + \sin \psi \sin \theta d\phi),$$

$$\Sigma_{2} = \frac{1}{2} (\sin \psi d\theta - \cos \psi \sin \theta d\phi),$$

$$\Sigma_{3} = \frac{1}{2} (d\psi + \cos \theta d\phi), \qquad \omega = \sin^{2} \mu \Sigma_{3}.$$
(A.22)

The coordinate transformation from (A.19) to (A.21) is given by

$$\psi_{1} = \chi + \frac{1}{2}(\psi + \phi), \qquad r = \mu, \psi_{2} = \chi + \frac{1}{2}(\psi - \phi), \qquad \zeta = \frac{1}{2}\theta, \psi_{3} = \chi.$$
(A.23)

B The T-duality rules

The rules of T-duality [68–70] are summarized here. We basically follow the rules of [70].

The transformation rules between type IIB and type IIA supergravities are listed below. Note that the T-duality is performed for the *y*-direction and the other coordinates are denoted by a, b, a_i (i = 1, ...). The fields of type IIB supergravity are the metric $g_{\mu\nu}$, NS-NS two-form B_2 , dilaton Φ , R-R gauge fields $C^{(2n)}$. The ones of type IIA supergravity are denoted with the tilde, the metric $\tilde{g}_{\mu\nu}$, NS-NS two-form \tilde{B}_2 , dilaton $\tilde{\Phi}$, and R-R gauge fields $\tilde{C}^{(2n+1)}$. From type IIB to type IIA

$$\tilde{g}_{yy} = \frac{1}{g_{yy}}, \qquad \tilde{g}_{ay} = \frac{B_{ay}}{g_{yy}}, \qquad \tilde{g}_{ab} = g_{ab} - \frac{g_{ya}g_{yb} - B_{ya}B_{yb}}{g_{yy}}, \\ \tilde{B}_{ay} = \frac{g_{ay}}{g_{yy}}, \qquad \tilde{B}_{ab} = B_{ab} - \frac{g_{ya}B_{yb} - B_{ya}g_{yb}}{g_{yy}}, \qquad \tilde{\Phi} = \Phi - \frac{1}{2}\ln g_{yy}, \\ \tilde{C}_{a_1\cdots a_{2n+1}}^{(2n+1)} = -C_{a_1\cdots a_{2n+1}y}^{(2n+2)} - (2n+1)B_{y[a_1}C_{a_2\cdots a_{2n+1}]}^{(2n)} + 2n(2n+1)\frac{B_{y[a_1}g_{a_2|y|}C_{a_3\cdots a_{2n+1}]y}^{(2n)}}{g_{yy}}, \\ \tilde{C}_{a_1\cdots a_{2n}y}^{(2n+1)} = C_{a_1\cdots a_{2n}}^{(2n)} + 2n\frac{g_{y[a_1}C_{a_2\cdots a_{2n}]y}^{(2n)}}{g_{yy}}, \qquad (B.1)$$

where the anti-symmetrization for indices is defined as, for example,

$$A_{[a}B_{b]} \equiv \frac{1}{2} \left(A_a B_b - A_b B_a \right)$$

The symbol |y| inside the anti-symmetrization means that the indices other than the index y are anti-symmetrized.

From type IIA to type IIB

$$g_{yy} = \frac{1}{\tilde{g}_{yy}}, \qquad g_{ay} = \frac{\tilde{B}_{ay}}{\tilde{g}_{yy}}, \qquad g_{ab} = \tilde{g}_{ab} - \frac{\tilde{g}_{ya}\tilde{g}_{yb} - \tilde{B}_{ya}\tilde{B}_{yb}}{\tilde{g}_{yy}}, B_{ay} = \frac{\tilde{g}_{ay}}{\tilde{g}_{yy}}, \qquad B_{ab} = \tilde{B}_{ab} - \frac{\tilde{g}_{ya}\tilde{B}_{yb} - \tilde{B}_{ya}\tilde{g}_{yb}}{\tilde{g}_{yy}}, \qquad \Phi = \tilde{\Phi} - \frac{1}{2}\ln\tilde{g}_{yy}, C_{a_{1}\cdots a_{2n}}^{(2n)} = \tilde{C}_{a_{1}\cdots a_{2n}y}^{(2n+1)} - 2n\tilde{B}_{y[a_{1}}\tilde{C}_{a_{2}\cdots a_{2n}]}^{(2n-1)} + 2n(2n-1)\frac{\tilde{B}_{y[a_{1}}\tilde{g}_{a_{2}|y|}\tilde{C}_{a_{3}\cdots a_{2n}]y}^{(2n-1)}}{\tilde{g}_{yy}}, C_{a_{1}\cdots a_{2n-1}y}^{(2n)} = -\tilde{C}_{a_{1}\cdots a_{2n-1}}^{(2n-1)} - (2n-1)\frac{\tilde{g}_{y[a_{1}}\tilde{C}_{a_{2}\cdots a_{2n-1}]y}^{(2n-1)}}{\tilde{g}_{yy}}.$$
(B.2)

C Derivation of dipole deformations of $AdS_5 \times S^5$

Let us here derive gravity duals for dipole theories by performing TsT transformations for $AdS_5 \times S^5$. In the following, we will concentrate on the NS-NS sector. The T-duality rules we utilize is summarized in appendix B.

C.1 One-parameter deformation

First of all, we consider a one-parameter deformation of $AdS_5 \times S^5$. The starting point is the following metric, NS-NS two-form B_2 and dilaton Φ :

$$ds^{2} = \frac{-(dx^{0})^{2} + (dx^{1})^{2} + (dx^{2})^{2} + (dx^{3})^{2} + dz^{2}}{z^{2}} + \sum_{i=1}^{3} (d\mu_{i}^{2} + \mu_{i}^{2} d\psi_{i}^{2}),$$

$$B_{2} = 0, \qquad \Phi = \Phi_{0} \quad (\text{const.}). \tag{C.1}$$

For this background, we will perform a TsT transformation $(x^3,\psi_1)_{\alpha_1}$. For this purpose, the relevant part is

$$ds^{2} = \frac{1}{z^{2}} (dx^{3})^{2} + \mu_{1}^{2} d\psi_{1}^{2}, \quad B_{2} = 0, \quad \Phi = \Phi_{0}.$$
 (C.2)

The first step is a T-duality for the x^3 -direction. The resulting background is given by

$$d\tilde{s}^2 = z^2 (d\tilde{x}^3)^2 + \mu_1^2 d\psi_1^2, \quad B_2 = 0, \quad \Phi = \Phi_0 - \frac{1}{2} \ln\left(\frac{1}{z^2}\right).$$
 (C.3)

Then, by shifting ψ_1 as $\psi_1 = \tilde{\psi}_1 - \alpha_1 \tilde{x}^3$, the background (C.3) is rewritten as

$$d\tilde{s}^{2} = (z^{2} + \mu_{1}^{2} \alpha_{1}^{2})(d\tilde{x}^{3})^{2} + \mu_{1}^{2} d\tilde{\psi}_{1}^{2} - 2\mu_{1}^{2} \alpha_{1} d\tilde{\psi}_{1} d\tilde{x}^{3},$$

$$\tilde{B}_{2} = 0, \qquad \tilde{\Phi} = \Phi_{0} + \frac{1}{2} \ln z^{2}.$$
(C.4)

Finally, a T-duality is performed for the \tilde{x}^3 -direction. Together with the undeformed part, the resulting background is given by

$$ds^{2} = \frac{-(dx^{0})^{2} + (dx^{1})^{2} + (dx^{2})^{2} + G_{1}^{-1}(dx^{3})^{2} + dz^{2}}{z^{2}} + \sum_{i=1}^{3} (d\mu_{i}^{2} + \mu_{i}^{2} d\psi_{i}^{2}),$$

$$B_{2} = \alpha_{1}G_{1}^{-1}z^{-2}\mu_{1}^{2} dx^{3} \wedge d\psi_{1}, \qquad e^{2\Phi} = e^{2\Phi_{0}}G_{1}^{-1}.$$
(C.5)

Here we have removed the tilde from ψ_1 and a scalar function $G_1(z)$ is defined as

$$G_1(z) \equiv 1 + \alpha_1^2 \,\mu_1^2 \, z^{-2}$$

C.2 Two-parameter deformation

We will next consider the second TsT transformation $(x^3, \psi_2)_{\alpha_2}$ for the background (C.5). The relevant part is

$$ds^{2} = G_{1}^{-1} \frac{(dx^{3})^{2}}{z^{2}} + G_{1}^{-1} \mu_{1}^{2} d\psi_{1}^{2} + \mu_{2}^{2} d\psi_{2}^{2},$$

$$B_{\psi_{1}x^{3}} = -\frac{\mu_{1}^{2} \alpha_{1}}{z^{2} + \mu_{1}^{2} \alpha_{1}}, \qquad \Phi = \Phi_{0} - \frac{1}{2} \ln G_{1}.$$
(C.6)

We first perform a T-duality for the x^3 -direction. The above part is rewritten as

$$d\tilde{s}^{2} = z^{2}G_{1} (d\tilde{x}^{3})^{2} + \mu_{1}^{2} d\psi_{1}^{2} + \mu_{2}^{2} d\psi_{2}^{2} - 2\mu_{1}^{2} \alpha_{1} d\psi_{1} d\tilde{x}^{3},$$

$$\tilde{B}_{2} = 0, \qquad \tilde{\Phi} = \Phi_{0} + \frac{1}{2} \ln z^{2}.$$
(C.7)

Then, by shifting ψ_2 as $\psi_2 = \tilde{\psi}_2 - \alpha_2 \tilde{x}^3$, the background (C.7) is rewritten as

$$d\tilde{s}^{2} = (z^{2}G_{1} + \alpha_{2}^{2}\mu_{2}^{2})(d\tilde{x}^{3})^{2} + \mu_{1}^{2}d\psi_{1}^{2} + \mu_{2}^{2}d\tilde{\psi}_{2}^{2} - 2\mu_{1}^{2}\alpha_{1}d\psi_{1}d\tilde{x}^{3} - 2\mu_{2}^{2}\alpha_{2}d\tilde{\psi}_{2}d\tilde{x}^{3},$$

$$\tilde{B}_{2} = 0, \qquad \tilde{\Phi} = \Phi_{0} + \frac{1}{2}\ln z^{2}.$$
(C.8)

Finally, we perform a T-duality for the \tilde{x}^3 -direction. Together with the undeformed part, the resulting background is given by

$$ds^{2} = \frac{-(dx^{0})^{2} + (dx^{1})^{2} + (dx^{2})^{2} + G_{2}^{-1}(dx^{3})^{2} + dz^{2}}{z^{2}} + \sum_{i=1}^{3} (d\mu_{i}^{2} + \mu_{i}^{2} d\psi_{i}^{2}) - z^{-2}G_{2}^{-1}(\alpha_{1} \mu_{1}^{2} d\psi_{1} + \alpha_{2} \mu_{2}^{2} d\psi_{2})^{2}, B_{2} = z^{-2}G_{2}^{-1} dx^{3} \wedge (\alpha_{1} \mu_{1}^{2} d\psi_{1} + \alpha_{2} \mu_{2}^{2} d\psi_{2}), \qquad e^{2\Phi} = e^{2\Phi_{0}} G_{2}^{-1}.$$
(C.9)

Here we have removed the tilde from ψ_2 and a scalar function $G_2(z)$ is defined as

 $G_2(z) \equiv 1 + z^{-2} (\alpha_1^2 \,\mu_1^2 + \alpha_2^2 \,\mu_2^2) \,.$

C.3 Three-parameter deformation

Finally, let us perform the third TsT transformation $(x^3, \psi_3)_{\alpha_3}$ for the background (C.9). The relevant part is given by

$$ds^{2} = G_{2}^{-1} \frac{(dx^{3})^{2}}{z^{2}} + \sum_{i=1}^{3} \mu_{i}^{2} d\psi_{i}^{2} - z^{-2} G_{2}^{-1} (\alpha_{1} \mu_{1}^{2} d\psi_{1} + \alpha_{2} \mu_{2}^{2} d\psi_{2})^{2},$$

$$B_{\psi_{1}x^{3}} = -\frac{\mu_{1}^{2} \alpha_{1}}{z^{2}} G_{2}^{-1}, \quad B_{\psi_{2}x^{3}} = -\frac{\mu_{2}^{2} \alpha_{2}}{z^{2}} G_{2}^{-1}, \quad \Phi = \Phi_{0} - \frac{1}{2} \ln G_{2}.$$
(C.10)

By performing a T-duality for the x^3 -direction, the above part is recast into

$$d\tilde{s}^{2} = z^{2} G_{2} (d\tilde{x}^{3})^{2} + \sum_{i=1}^{3} \mu_{i}^{2} d\psi_{i}^{2} - 2\alpha_{1} \mu_{1}^{2} d\psi_{1} d\tilde{x}^{3} - 2\alpha_{2} \mu_{2}^{2} d\psi_{2} d\tilde{x}^{3},$$

$$\tilde{B}_{2} = 0, \qquad \tilde{\Phi} = \Phi_{0} + \frac{1}{2} \ln z^{2}.$$
(C.11)

Then, by shifting ψ_3 as $\psi_3 = \tilde{\psi}_3 - \alpha_3 \tilde{x}^3$, the background (C.11) is rewritten as

$$d\tilde{s}^{2} = (z^{2}G_{2} + \alpha_{3}^{2} \mu_{3}^{2}) (d\tilde{x}^{3})^{2} + \mu_{1}^{2} d\psi_{1}^{2} + \mu_{2}^{2} d\psi_{2}^{2} + \mu_{3}^{2} d\tilde{\psi}_{3}^{2} - 2\mu_{1}^{2} \alpha_{1} d\psi_{1} d\tilde{x}^{3} - 2\mu_{2}^{2} \alpha_{2} d\psi_{2} d\tilde{x}^{3} - 2\mu_{3}^{2} \alpha_{3} d\tilde{\psi}_{3} d\tilde{x}^{3} ,$$

$$\tilde{B}_{2} = 0 , \qquad \tilde{\Phi} = \Phi_{0} + \frac{1}{2} \ln z^{2} . \qquad (C.12)$$

Finally, we perform a T-duality for the \tilde{x}^3 -direction. Together with the undeformed part, the resulting background is given by

$$ds^{2} = \frac{-(dx^{0})^{2} + (dx^{1})^{2} + (dx^{2})^{2} + G_{3}^{-1}(dx^{3})^{2} + dz^{2}}{z^{2}} + \sum_{i=1}^{3} (d\mu_{i}^{2} + \mu_{i}^{2} d\psi_{i}^{2}) - z^{-2}G_{3}^{-1} \left(\sum_{i=1}^{3} \alpha_{i} \, \mu_{i}^{2} \, d\psi_{i}\right)^{2},$$
$$B_{2} = z^{-2}G_{3}^{-1}dx^{3} \wedge \left(\sum_{i=1}^{3} \alpha_{i} \, \mu_{i}^{2} \, d\psi_{i}\right), \qquad e^{2\Phi} = e^{2\Phi_{0}} \, G_{3}^{-1}.$$
(C.13)

Here we have removed the tilde from ψ_3 and a scalar function $G_3(z)$ is defined as

$$G_3(z) \equiv 1 + z^{-2} \sum_{i=1}^3 \alpha_i^2 \, \mu_i^2 \, .$$

Open Access. This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC-BY 4.0), which permits any use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author(s) and source are credited.

References

- J.M. Maldacena, The large-N limit of superconformal field theories and supergravity, Int. J. Theor. Phys. 38 (1999) 1113 [hep-th/9711200] [INSPIRE].
- [2] N. Beisert et al., Review of AdS/CFT Integrability: An Overview, Lett. Math. Phys. 99 (2012) 3 [arXiv:1012.3982] [INSPIRE].
- [3] R.R. Metsaev and A.A. Tseytlin, Type IIB superstring action in AdS₅ × S⁵ background, Nucl. Phys. B 533 (1998) 109 [hep-th/9805028] [INSPIRE].
- [4] I. Bena, J. Polchinski and R. Roiban, Hidden symmetries of the AdS₅ × S⁵ superstring, Phys. Rev. D 69 (2004) 046002 [hep-th/0305116] [INSPIRE].
- [5] C. Klimčík, Yang-Baxter σ-models and dS/AdS T duality, JHEP 12 (2002) 051 [hep-th/0210095] [INSPIRE].
- [6] C. Klimčík, On integrability of the Yang-Baxter σ -model, J. Math. Phys. **50** (2009) 043508 [arXiv:0802.3518] [INSPIRE].
- [7] C. Klimčík, Integrability of the bi-Yang-Baxter σ -model, Lett. Math. Phys. **104** (2014) 1095 [arXiv:1402.2105] [INSPIRE].
- [8] I. Kawaguchi and K. Yoshida, Hidden Yangian symmetry in σ-model on squashed sphere, JHEP 11 (2010) 032 [arXiv:1008.0776] [INSPIRE].
- [9] I. Kawaguchi and K. Yoshida, Hybrid classical integrability in squashed σ-models, Phys. Lett. B 705 (2011) 251 [arXiv:1107.3662] [INSPIRE].
- [10] I. Kawaguchi and K. Yoshida, Hybrid classical integrable structure of squashed σ -models: A short summary, J. Phys. Conf. Ser. **343** (2012) 012055 [arXiv:1110.6748] [INSPIRE].
- [11] I. Kawaguchi, T. Matsumoto and K. Yoshida, The classical origin of quantum affine algebra in squashed σ -models, JHEP 04 (2012) 115 [arXiv:1201.3058] [INSPIRE].
- [12] I. Kawaguchi, T. Matsumoto and K. Yoshida, On the classical equivalence of monodromy matrices in squashed σ -model, JHEP 06 (2012) 082 [arXiv:1203.3400] [INSPIRE].
- [13] F. Delduc, M. Magro and B. Vicedo, On classical q-deformations of integrable σ-models, JHEP 11 (2013) 192 [arXiv:1308.3581] [INSPIRE].
- [14] F. Delduc, M. Magro and B. Vicedo, Integrable double deformation of the principal chiral model, Nucl. Phys. B 891 (2015) 312 [arXiv:1410.8066] [INSPIRE].
- [15] I. Kawaguchi, D. Orlando and K. Yoshida, Yangian symmetry in deformed WZNW models on squashed spheres, Phys. Lett. B 701 (2011) 475 [arXiv:1104.0738] [INSPIRE].

- [16] I. Kawaguchi and K. Yoshida, A deformation of quantum affine algebra in squashed Wess-Zumino-Novikov-Witten models, J. Math. Phys. 55 (2014) 062302 [arXiv:1311.4696]
 [INSPIRE].
- [17] K. Sfetsos, Integrable interpolations: From exact CFTs to non-Abelian T-duals, Nucl. Phys. B 880 (2014) 225 [arXiv:1312.4560] [INSPIRE].
- [18] T. Matsumoto and K. Yoshida, Yang-Baxter σ-models based on the CYBE, Nucl. Phys. B 893 (2015) 287 [arXiv:1501.03665] [INSPIRE].
- [19] I. Kawaguchi and K. Yoshida, Classical integrability of Schrödinger σ-models and q-deformed Poincaré symmetry, JHEP 11 (2011) 094 [arXiv:1109.0872] [INSPIRE].
- [20] I. Kawaguchi and K. Yoshida, Exotic symmetry and monodromy equivalence in Schrödinger σ -models, JHEP **02** (2013) 024 [arXiv:1209.4147] [INSPIRE].
- [21] I. Kawaguchi, T. Matsumoto and K. Yoshida, Schroedinger σ-models and Jordanian twists, JHEP 08 (2013) 013 [arXiv:1305.6556] [INSPIRE].
- [22] T. Kameyama and K. Yoshida, String theories on warped AdS backgrounds and integrable deformations of spin chains, JHEP 05 (2013) 146 [arXiv:1304.1286] [INSPIRE].
- [23] S. Schäfer-Nameki, M. Yamazaki and K. Yoshida, Coset Construction for Duals of Non-relativistic CFTs, JHEP 05 (2009) 038 [arXiv:0903.4245] [INSPIRE].
- [24] D. Orlando, S. Reffert and L.I. Uruchurtu, Classical Integrability of the Squashed Three-sphere, Warped AdS3 and Schroedinger Spacetime via T-duality, J. Phys. A 44 (2011) 115401 [arXiv:1011.1771] [INSPIRE].
- [25] F. Delduc, M. Magro and B. Vicedo, An integrable deformation of the AdS₅ × S⁵ superstring action, Phys. Rev. Lett. **112** (2014) 051601 [arXiv:1309.5850] [INSPIRE].
- [26] F. Delduc, M. Magro and B. Vicedo, Derivation of the action and symmetries of the q-deformed $AdS_5 \times S^5$ superstring, JHEP 10 (2014) 132 [arXiv:1406.6286] [INSPIRE].
- [27] I. Kawaguchi, T. Matsumoto and K. Yoshida, Jordanian deformations of the $AdS_5 \times S^5$ superstring, JHEP 04 (2014) 153 [arXiv:1401.4855] [INSPIRE].
- [28] O. Lunin and J.M. Maldacena, Deforming field theories with U(1) × U(1) global symmetry and their gravity duals, JHEP 05 (2005) 033 [hep-th/0502086] [INSPIRE].
- [29] S. Frolov, Lax pair for strings in Lunin-Maldacena background, JHEP 05 (2005) 069 [hep-th/0503201] [INSPIRE].
- [30] A. Hashimoto and N. Itzhaki, Noncommutative Yang-Mills and the AdS/CFT correspondence, Phys. Lett. B 465 (1999) 142 [hep-th/9907166] [INSPIRE].
- [31] J.M. Maldacena and J.G. Russo, Large-N limit of noncommutative gauge theories, JHEP 09 (1999) 025 [hep-th/9908134] [INSPIRE].
- [32] T. Matsumoto and K. Yoshida, Lunin-Maldacena backgrounds from the classical Yang-Baxter equation towards the gravity/CYBE correspondence, JHEP 06 (2014) 135
 [arXiv:1404.1838] [INSPIRE].
- [33] T. Matsumoto and K. Yoshida, Integrability of classical strings dual for noncommutative gauge theories, JHEP 06 (2014) 163 [arXiv:1404.3657] [INSPIRE].
- [34] T. Matsumoto and K. Yoshida, Integrable deformations of the AdS₅ × S⁵ superstring and the classical Yang-Baxter equation Towards the gravity/CYBE correspondence,
 J. Phys. Conf. Ser. 563 (2014) 012020 [arXiv:1410.0575] [INSPIRE].

- [35] T. Matsumoto and K. Yoshida, Yang-Baxter deformations and string dualities, JHEP 03 (2015) 137 [arXiv:1412.3658] [INSPIRE].
- [36] I. Kawaguchi, T. Matsumoto and K. Yoshida, A Jordanian deformation of AdS space in type IIB supergravity, JHEP 06 (2014) 146 [arXiv:1402.6147] [INSPIRE].
- [37] P.M. Crichigno, T. Matsumoto and K. Yoshida, *Deformations of* $T^{1,1}$ as Yang-Baxter σ -models, *JHEP* **12** (2014) 085 [arXiv:1406.2249] [INSPIRE].
- [38] P. Basu and L.A. Pando Zayas, Chaos Rules out Integrability of Strings in $AdS_5 \times T^{1,1}$, Phys. Lett. **B** 700 (2011) 243 [arXiv:1103.4107] [INSPIRE].
- [39] C.P. Herzog, M. Rangamani and S.F. Ross, *Heating up Galilean holography*, JHEP 11 (2008) 080 [arXiv:0807.1099] [INSPIRE].
- [40] J. Maldacena, D. Martelli and Y. Tachikawa, Comments on string theory backgrounds with non-relativistic conformal symmetry, JHEP 10 (2008) 072 [arXiv:0807.1100] [INSPIRE].
- [41] A. Adams, K. Balasubramanian and J. McGreevy, Hot Spacetimes for Cold Atoms, JHEP 11 (2008) 059 [arXiv:0807.1111] [INSPIRE].
- [42] N. Bobev and A. Kundu, Deformations of Holographic Duals to Non-Relativistic CFTs, JHEP 07 (2009) 098 [arXiv:0904.2873] [INSPIRE].
- [43] N. Bobev, A. Kundu and K. Pilch, Supersymmetric IIB Solutions with Schrödinger Symmetry, JHEP 07 (2009) 107 [arXiv:0905.0673] [INSPIRE].
- [44] A. Bergman and O.J. Ganor, Dipoles, twists and noncommutative gauge theory, JHEP 10 (2000) 018 [hep-th/0008030] [INSPIRE].
- [45] K. Dasgupta, O.J. Ganor and G. Rajesh, Vector deformations of N = 4 super Yang-Mills theory, pinned branes and arched strings, JHEP 04 (2001) 034 [hep-th/0010072] [INSPIRE].
- [46] A. Bergman, K. Dasgupta, O.J. Ganor, J.L. Karczmarek and G. Rajesh, Nonlocal field theories and their gravity duals, Phys. Rev. D 65 (2002) 066005 [hep-th/0103090] [INSPIRE].
- [47] M. Alishahiha and O.J. Ganor, Twisted backgrounds, PP waves and nonlocal field theories, JHEP 03 (2003) 006 [hep-th/0301080] [INSPIRE].
- [48] E. Imeroni, On deformed gauge theories and their string/M-theory duals, JHEP 10 (2008) 026 [arXiv:0808.1271] [INSPIRE].
- [49] D.T. Son, Toward an AdS/cold atoms correspondence: A geometric realization of the Schrödinger symmetry, Phys. Rev. D 78 (2008) 046003 [arXiv:0804.3972] [INSPIRE].
- [50] K. Balasubramanian and J. McGreevy, Gravity duals for non-relativistic CFTs, Phys. Rev. Lett. 101 (2008) 061601 [arXiv:0804.4053] [INSPIRE].
- [51] C.R. Hagen, Scale and conformal transformations in galilean-covariant field theory, Phys. Rev. D 5 (1972) 377 [INSPIRE].
- [52] U. Niederer, The maximal kinematical invariance group of the free Schrödinger equation., Helv. Phys. Acta 45 (1972) 802 [INSPIRE].
- [53] Y. Nishida and D.T. Son, Nonrelativistic conformal field theories, Phys. Rev. D 76 (2007) 086004 [arXiv:0706.3746] [INSPIRE].
- [54] D. Giataganas and K. Sfetsos, Non-integrability in non-relativistic theories, JHEP 06 (2014) 018 [arXiv:1403.2703] [INSPIRE].

- [55] S.A. Hartnoll and K. Yoshida, Families of IIB duals for nonrelativistic CFTs, JHEP 12 (2008) 071 [arXiv:0810.0298] [INSPIRE].
- [56] M. Sakaguchi and K. Yoshida, Super Schroedinger algebra in AdS/CFT, J. Math. Phys. 49 (2008) 102302 [arXiv:0805.2661] [INSPIRE].
- [57] M. Sakaguchi and K. Yoshida, More super Schrödinger algebras from PSU(2,2|4), JHEP 08 (2008) 049 [arXiv:0806.3612] [INSPIRE].
- [58] M. Sakaguchi and K. Yoshida, Supersymmetric Extensions of Non-Relativistic Scaling Algebras, Symmetry 4 (2012) 517.
- [59] J. Jeong, E. Ó Colgáin and K. Yoshida, SUSY properties of warped AdS₃, JHEP 06 (2014) 036 [arXiv:1402.3807] [INSPIRE].
- [60] T. Matsumoto and K. Yoshida, in preparation.
- [61] G. Arutyunov and S. Frolov, Superstrings on $AdS_4 \times CP^3$ as a Coset σ -model, JHEP 09 (2008) 129 [arXiv:0806.4940] [INSPIRE].
- [62] B. Stefański Jr., Green-Schwarz action for Type IIA strings on AdS₄ × CP³, Nucl. Phys. B 808 (2009) 80 [arXiv:0806.4948] [INSPIRE].
- [63] O. Aharony, O. Bergman, D.L. Jafferis and J. Maldacena, N = 6 superconformal Chern-Simons-matter theories, M2-branes and their gravity duals, JHEP 10 (2008) 091
 [arXiv:0806.1218] [INSPIRE].
- [64] Y. Nakayama, M. Sakaguchi and K. Yoshida, Non-Relativistic M2-brane Gauge Theory and New Superconformal Algebra, JHEP 04 (2009) 096 [arXiv:0902.2204] [INSPIRE].
- [65] K.-M. Lee, S. Lee and S. Lee, Nonrelativistic Superconformal M2-Brane Theory, JHEP 09 (2009) 030 [arXiv:0902.3857] [INSPIRE].
- [66] H. Ooguri and C.-S. Park, Supersymmetric non-relativistic geometries in M-theory, Nucl. Phys. B 824 (2010) 136 [arXiv:0905.1954] [INSPIRE].
- [67] J. Jeong, H.-C. Kim, S. Lee, E. O Colgain and H. Yavartanoo, Schrödinger invariant solutions of M-theory with Enhanced Supersymmetry, JHEP 03 (2010) 034
 [arXiv:0911.5281] [INSPIRE].
- [68] T. Buscher, A Symmetry of the String Background Field Equations, Phys. Lett. B 184 (1987) 59.
- [69] T.H. Buscher, Path Integral Derivation of Quantum Duality in Nonlinear σ -models, Phys. Lett. **B 201** (1988) 466 [INSPIRE].
- [70] P. Meessen and T. Ortín, An SL(2,ℤ) multiplet of nine-dimensional type-II supergravity theories, Nucl. Phys. B 541 (1999) 195 [hep-th/9806120] [INSPIRE].